SUPREME COURT  
FILED

**In the Supreme Court of the State of California**

MAR - 5 2013

In re

**WILLIAM TAYLOR, ET AL.,**

**On Habeas Corpus.**

Frank A. McGuire Clerk

Deputy

Case No. S206143

Fourth Appellate District, Division One, Case No. D059574  
San Diego County Superior Court Case Nos. HC19742 (Taylor),  
HC19731 (Todd), HC19612 (Briley), HC19743 (Glynn)  
The Honorable Michael D. Wellington, Judge

**OPENING BRIEF ON THE MERITS**

KAMALA D. HARRIS  
Attorney General of California  
DANE R. GILLETTE  
Chief Assistant Attorney General  
SUSAN DUNCAN LEE  
Acting State Solicitor General  
JENNIFER A. NEILL  
Senior Assistant Attorney General  
PHILLIP LINDSAY

## ISSUE FOR REVIEW

Does the residency restriction of Penal Code section 3003.5, subdivision (b), when enforced as a mandatory parole condition against registered sex offenders paroled to San Diego County, constitute an unreasonable statutory parole condition that infringes on their constitutional rights?

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

In November 2006, the voters of California approved Proposition 83, commonly called Jessica's Law.<sup>1</sup> Among other things, the proposition made it illegal for registered sex offenders "to reside within 2000 feet of any public or private school, or park where children regularly gather." (Ballot Pamp., Gen. Elec. (Nov. 7, 2006).) This residency restriction is codified in Penal Code section 3003.5, subdivision (b). The drafters of Jessica's Law informed voters that this provision would establish "predator free zones around schools and parks to prevent sex offenders from living near where . . . children learn and play." (*Id.*, argument in favor of Prop. 83, p. 46.) Jessica's Law is not limited to offenders who commit crimes against children; it applies to all offenders who are required to register as a sex offender under Penal Code section 290 regardless of the offender's particular crime or individualized risk of danger to children.<sup>2</sup>

---

<sup>1</sup> (See [http://www.sos.ca.gov/elections/sov/2006\\_general/contents.htm](http://www.sos.ca.gov/elections/sov/2006_general/contents.htm) [as of July 7, 2011].)

<sup>2</sup> The residency restriction is one of a number of laws intended to protect the public from registered sex offenders. Under Megan's Law, convicted sex offenders are required to register as a sex offender with local law enforcement for life and their residential addresses are posted on the Internet for public access. (Pen. Code, §290.46.) Chelsea's Law restricts sex-offender parolees who were convicted of certain offenses against children under fourteen from entering any park. (Pen. Code, § 3053.8.)

(continued...)

Before the enactment of Jessica’s Law, the California Department of Corrections and Rehabilitation’s (CDCR) Division of Adult Parole Operations (DAPO) would exercise its discretionary authority to impose residency restrictions like Jessica’s Law on sex offenders based on each sex offender’s individualized case factors and risk to the public. After enactment of Jessica’s Law, DAPO began enforcing the residency restriction against all registered sex offenders on parole, regardless of whether their offenses were against children, and regardless of whether compliant housing was available—as the law requires. Sex-offender parolees who failed to comply with the residency restriction faced incarceration.

In *In re E.J.* (2010) 47 Cal.4th 1258, this Court was presented with ex post facto and as-applied challenges to the residency restriction. After rejecting the ex post facto claims, the Court addressed the as-applied challenges: “Petitioners further contend section 3003.5(b) is an unreasonable, vague and overbroad parole condition that infringes on various state and federal constitutional rights, including their privacy rights, property rights, right to intrastate travel, and their substantive due process rights under the federal Constitution.” (*Id.* at p. 1280.) The Court noted that the as-applied claims were “considerably more complex” (*id.* at p. 1281), and concluded that evidentiary hearings would be needed to establish the facts to decide each claim. (*Id.* at pp. 1283-1284.) Relevant facts to consider include each petitioner’s current parole status; the precise location of each petitioner’s current residence and its proximity to the nearest public or private school, or park where children regularly gather; a

---

(...continued)

And certain high-risk child molesters are precluded from residing within one-half mile of any school while on parole. (Pen. Code, § 3003, subd. (g); Cal. Code Regs., tit. 15, § 3582, subd. (c).)

factual assessment of the compliant housing; an assessment of the way in which the mandatory parole residency restrictions are currently being enforced; and a complete record of the protocol CDCR is currently following to enforce the residency restriction. (*In re E.J.* (2010) 47 Cal.4th at pp. 1283-1284.)

After *E.J.*, as-applied challenges were brought in several counties, including San Diego, Sacramento, Orange, Riverside, Los Angeles, Contra Costa, and San Bernardino. Petitioners William Taylor, Julie Briley, Jeffrey Glynn, and Stephen Todd are four of about 140 registered sex-offender parolees who challenged the application of the restriction in San Diego County. (CT, Vol. 1, at pp. 1-114; CT-A, Vol. 2, at pp. 291-394, Vol. 3, at pp. 583-660, Vol. 4, at pp. 844-1045.<sup>3</sup>)

Following an eight-day evidentiary hearing, the San Diego County Superior Court ruled that the residency restriction was unconstitutional as applied to parolees in San Diego County and thus enjoined CDCR from enforcing the law in any manner. (CT, Vol. 2, at pp. 379-416, 417-421.) The court found that the blanket application of the residency restriction forced large groups of parolees into homelessness, thereby impinging on their constitutional rights to travel, establish a home, and privacy. The court stated that the residency restriction is a “blanket proscription, blindly applied to all registered sex offenders on parole without consideration of the circumstances or history of the individual case.” (CT, Vol. 2, at p. 421.)

---

<sup>3</sup> “CT” refers to the Clerk’s Transcript on Appeal (certified on May 16, 2011), Volumes 1 and 2. “CT-A” refers to the Augmented Clerk’s Transcript on Appeal (certified on August 22, 2011), Volumes 1 through 6. “2CT-A” refers to the Second Augmented Clerk’s Transcript on Appeal (certified on October 21, 2011), Volumes 1 through 3. “RT” refers to the Reporter’s Transcript on Appeal Volumes 1 through 13.

CDCR appealed. The Fourth Appellate District affirmed the superior court's order concluding that the blanket residency restriction, as applied to parolees in San Diego County, is excessive and unduly broad in relation to its stated objective—the protection of children—because it “eliminates nearly all existing affordable housing in San Diego County” and because it treats all parolees the same regardless of their risk of reoffending or whether their crimes involved the victimization of children or adults. (Slip opn. at pp. 35-36.) In affirming the superior court order, however, the Court of Appeal reiterated that “[a]gents may, after consideration of a parolee’s particularized circumstances, impose a special parole condition that mirrors section 3003.5(b) or one that is more or less restrictive. It is only the *blanket* enforcement—that is, to all registered sex offender parolees without consideration of the individual case—that the trial court prohibited and we uphold.” (Slip opn. at p. 37.)

### STATEMENT OF FACTS

#### **I. BECAUSE EACH PETITIONER IS A REGISTERED SEX OFFENDER, THE RESIDENCY RESTRICTION BARS HIM OR HER FROM RESIDING NEAR A SCHOOL OR PARK.**

Petitioners are four registered sex offenders who, while on parole, are subject to CDCR’s enforcement of the residency restriction against them. The individual circumstances of the petitioners are as follows:<sup>4</sup>

##### **A. William Taylor.**

In 1991, Taylor was convicted of one count of sexual assault in Arizona and served a seven-year prison sentence after he, along with another male and two females, abducted an adult female victim to a remote area where Taylor and the other male raped her. Upon Taylor’s return to

---

<sup>4</sup> The parties stipulated to each petitioner’s criminal and parole revocation history as set forth in the returns. (RT, Vol. 7, at p. 461; Vol. 8, at pp. 599, 743; Vol. 9, at p. 896.)

California, the California Department of Justice determined that his conviction was the equivalent to rape under California Penal Code section 261, subdivision (a)(2), and thus Penal Code section 290 requires Taylor to register with local authorities as a sex offender for life while he remains in California. (CT, Vol. 1, at pp. 151-152, 179, 182; RT, Vol. 8, at p. 744.) Taylor has never subsequently been arrested for another sex offense.

At the time of the underlying evidentiary hearing, Taylor resided in compliant housing paid for by the state. (Vol. 8, at pp. 778, 780-781; CT, Vol. 2, at p. 288.) Taylor suffers from numerous serious health conditions for which he receives ongoing outpatient medical treatment. (*Id.* at pp. 749, 773.) He has an offer of residence from his nephew, whose wife is a medical professional; however, that residence is located within 2,000 feet of a school or park and thus is not compliant with the residency restriction. (RT, Vol. 8, at pp. 746-747.) Taylor is not employed, and is not employable due to his medical problems and other personal circumstances. At the time of the evidentiary hearing, he had applied for, and was awaiting approval for, social security disability payments (SSI). (*Id.* at pp. 772-773.) But for the assistance he receives from the state, and without receiving SSI, Taylor would be homeless. (*Id.* at p. 778; CT, Vol. 2, at p. 288.)

**B. Julie Briley.**

During the 1980's, Briley sexually abused her daughter over a period of years beginning when her daughter was only five years old. Briley pled guilty to one count of a lewd and lascivious act upon a child less than fourteen years of age. (CT-A, Vol. 5, at pp. 1051, 1075-1084, 1087-1096; RT, Vol. 7, at pp. 461-462, 521-522.) Briley has no other sex-offense convictions. At the time of the evidentiary hearing, Briley lived in a recreational vehicle parked in a lot in exchange for cleaning the lot owner's office. (*Id.* at pp. 500-501.) The lot is noncompliant with the residency restriction. (*Ibid.*) Additionally, Briley cleans the house of an elderly

woman for which she receives approximately \$40 per month, and works as a short-order cook four hours a day, one day per month. (*Id.* at pp. 499-502.) If not for her current agreement with the parking lot owner, she would be homeless. (Vol. 7, at pp. 513, 515.)

**C. Jeffrey Glynn.**

In December 1989, Glynn pled guilty to, and was convicted of, one count of misdemeanor sexual battery for sexually assaulting his adult ex-girlfriend. (CT-A, Vol. 3, at pp. 666-667, 691-692.) More recently, Glynn has been married for 12 years and has three teenaged children. (RT, Vol. 8, at pp. 559, 576.) In 2009, upon his release from prison, Glynn's parole officer informed him that the apartment his family had moved into during his incarceration was located within 2,000 feet of a park. (*Id.* at p. 567.) Instead of asking his family to move from their current residence where they were established in the community, Glynn purchased a van in which he slept, parked near the location of his family's apartment. (*Id.* at pp. 591-594.) Since his 1989 conviction, Glynn has never been arrested for any other sex offense.

**D. Stephen Todd.**

In 1982, when Todd was fifteen years old, he sexually assaulted his ten-year-old sister and sustained a true finding in juvenile court of one count of committing a lewd and lascivious act with a child under 14 years old. (CT-A, Vol. 2, at pp. 402, 440.) This is Todd's only conviction for a sex offense. Although Todd was not required to register as a sex offender at the time of his conviction, the law in California later changed and Todd is now required to register as a sex offender for the remainder of his life under Penal Code section 290. At the time of the evidentiary hearing, Todd was incarcerated following a conviction for possession of narcotics. (CT, Vol. 2, at pp. 381, 384.)

## **II. THE SEX-OFFENDER PAROLEE POPULATION AND ENFORCEMENT OF JESSICA'S LAW IN SAN DIEGO COUNTY.**

At the time of the evidentiary hearing, there were 482 registered sex offenders on parole in San Diego County who were subject to the residency restriction of Jessica's Law. (RT, Vol. 10, at p. 975.)

Before releasing an inmate from state prison, prison officials provide the offender with his or her conditions of parole. (RT, Vol. 7, at p. 476, Vol. 10, at p. 949.) At that time, prison officials discuss the offender's parole conditions, and answer any questions the offender may have about his or her conditions. (*Ibid.*) If the inmate is a registered sex offender, prison officials notify the offender of his or her obligation to comply with the residency restriction. (RT, Vol. 10, at p. 955.)

When a registered sex offender is released from state prison on parole, the offender is required to report to an assigned parole office. (RT, Vol. 10, at pp. 947, 949.) During the initial meeting between the sex offender and the parole agent, the parole agent will again review the offender's parole conditions, including the parolee's obligation to comply with the residency restriction, and answer any of the parolee's questions. (RT, Vol. 7, at pp. 472-474, Vol. 10, at pp. 949, 955.) CDCR enforces the residency restriction because registered sex offenders have a legal obligation to comply with the law independent of any parole condition CDCR imposes. (RT, Vol. 10, at pp. 955-958.)

When meeting with the parolee, the agent provides the parolee with resources to assist the parolee with his or her transition from prison back into society, such as community college, social services, and medical- and psychological-treatment resources. (RT, Vol. 7, at pp. 516-518, Vol. 8, at pp. 569, 766-767, Vol. 10, at pp. 950-951.) Parolees receive access to job counseling, job preparation, and drug- and alcohol-dependence services, as



well as access to a vendor that provides services to obtain a General Equivalency Degree. (RT, Vol. 7, at pp. 502-503, Vol. 10, at pp. 950-951.) The state provides all of these services without cost to the parolee. (*Ibid.*)

In some circumstances, when a sex offender cannot afford housing, CDCR will provide funds to the parolee so the parolee can obtain temporary transitional housing. (2CT-A, Vol. 2, at pp. 490-496, 518; RT, Vol. 8, at pp. 747-748, Vol. 10, at p. 952.) Because funds are limited, assistance is reserved for mentally ill parolees and non-mentally ill parolees who require housing for the parolee's or public's safety. (2CT-A, Vol. 2, at pp. 490, 520; RT, Vol. 8, at pp. 747-748, Vol. 10, at p. 952.) Generally, housing assistance is limited to 60 days, but may be extended on a case-by-case basis. (2CT-A, Vol. 2, at p. 490; RT, Vol. 10, at pp. 953-954.)

Parolees are obligated to look for their own available housing that complies with the residency restriction; CDCR does not assist parolees in searching for compliant housing. (2CT-A, Vol. 2, at p. 464; RT, Vol. 10, at p. 960.) Once a parolee finds a particular residence where they would like to live, the parolee is required to provide the proposed address to his or her parole agent, who will then verify whether the proposed residence complies with the residency restriction. (2CT-A, Vol. 2, at p. 477; RT, Vol. 10, at p. 960.) Until the parolee's agent has verified whether the proposed residence is compliant with the 2,000-foot zone, the parolee may not move into the proposed residence. (2CT-A, Vol. 2, at pp. 477-478; RT, Vol. 10, at p. 961.)

For purposes of the residency restriction, CDCR defines a school as any public or private school from kindergarten through twelfth grade. (RT, Vol. 10, at p. 960.<sup>5</sup>) CDCR defines parks as areas where children would

---

<sup>5</sup> Since the time of the evidentiary hearing, CDCR has promulgated regulations under title 15 of the California Code of Regulations regarding its implementation of the residency restriction, which includes defining an  
(continued...)

normally gather based on certain objective characteristics, including whether the location contains open grassy areas, playground equipment, or soccer and baseball fields, and whether the area is designated as a park. (RT, Vol. 10, at pp. 960-961.) If a school or park is located near the parolee's proposed residence, the agent will measure the distance from the front door of the residence to the school or park's outer most boundary using a Global Positioning System (GPS) device. (2CT-A, Vol. 2, at p. 482; RT, Vol. 10, at pp. 959-960.) If the distance between the front door and the school or park is less than 2,000 feet, the proposed residence is deemed non-compliant with Jessica's Law, and the parolee is not allowed to reside there. (2CT-A, Vol. 2, at p. 482.) A parolee may administratively appeal an agent's determination that a proposed residence does not comply with Jessica's Law. (RT, Vol. 10, at pp. 949, 961.) A parolee who, for whatever reason, cannot establish a compliant residence becomes homeless and must register with the parole office and local law enforcement as a transient. (2CT-A, Vol. 2, at pp. 483-489; RT, Vol. 10, at p. 962.)

### **III. COMPLIANT HOUSING IN SAN DIEGO COUNTY.**

To ascertain the amount of compliant housing located in San Diego County, Julie Wartell, a former crime analyst for the San Diego County District Attorney's Office, gathered and analyzed housing data maintained by the County Tax Assessor's Office. (RT, Vol. 6, at p. 222.) This housing data consisted of parcels that the county identified as residential, including single-family homes, multi-family use (such as apartments), and condominiums. (RT, Vol. 6, at p. 223.) A single "multi-family" parcel contains multiple residential units. (RT, Vol. 6, at p. 248.) The data Ms.

---

(...continued)

applicable "school" for purposes of the residency restriction. (Cal. Code Regs., tit. 15, § 3571, subd. (c) [public or private school, kindergarten through 12th grade].)

Wartell compiled and analyzed categorizes multi-family parcels based on a range of units located on that particular parcel, such as 2 to 4, 5 to 14, 15 to 60, and 61 or more units. (RT, Vol. 6, at p. 248.)

Ms. Wartell also incorporated school and park data maintained by the San Diego Association of Governments. (RT, Vol. 6, at pp. 218, 222.) This data identified public and private schools throughout the county defined as kindergarten through twelfth grade. (RT, Vol. 6, at p. 218.) It also identified all “active use” parks throughout the county. (RT, Vol. 6, at p. 219.) With this information, Ms. Wartell was able to extract all public and private schools and active-use parks throughout the county, and draw a 2,000-foot circle around each school and park. (RT, Vol. 6, at pp. 222-223.) She was then able to exclude from the total number of residential parcels any parcel whose boundary intersected the 2,000-foot buffer zone in any manner, which Ms. Wartell deemed as being non-compliant with the residency restriction of Jessica’s Law. (RT, Vol. 6, at p. 225.)

Based on Ms. Wartell’s analysis, 24.5 percent of residential parcels, or 222,314 actual parcels, within the county comply with the residency restriction. (RT, Vol. 6, at p. 241; 2CT-A, Vol. 1, at p. 1.) Of that 24.5 percent, however, only about 3 percent are comprised of compliant multi-family parcels. Ms. Wartell also determined that the 3 percent compliant multi-family parcels contain about 50,218 individual compliant rental units. (RT, Vol. 12, at pp. 1252-1257; 2CT-A, Vol. 3, at pp. 646-650.)

David Estrella, the Director of the San Diego County Department of Housing and Community Development, testified that the countywide vacancy rate for low-income rental housing is approximately 5 to 8 percent. (RT, Vol. 7, at p. 369.) Therefore, at any given time, there are anywhere from 2,500 to 4,000 compliant multi-family units available for rent for a sex-offender population in San Diego County of fewer than 500.

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