SUPREME COURT FILED

MAY 3 1 2013

_	. 1			_	re C	•
	nv	Δ	RAC	4	roı.	ION
		_	IVIL	·CJUI	162.57	ien d

Deputy

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

In re	
WILLIAM TAYLOR, et al.,	Case No. S206143
On Habeas Corpus	

Fourth Appellate District, Division One, Case No. D059574
San Diego County Superior Court Case Nos. HC19742 (Taylor), HC19731
(Todd), HC19612 (Briley), HC19743 (Glynn)
The Honorable Michael D. Wellington, Judge

RESPONDENTS' ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERITS

INTRODUCTION

This case stems from habeas corpus petitions filed by San Diego County parolees which raised various constitutional challenges to the blanket residency restriction of Penal Code¹ section 3003.5, subdivision (b), a statutory parole condition which has been strictly enforced by the California Department of Corrections and Rehabilitation ("CDCR"), Division of Adult Parole Operations ("DAPO") since August, 2007. In the wake of this Court's ruling and remand order in *In re E.J.* (2010) 47 Cal.4th 1258, a comprehensive evidentiary hearing was conducted in the San Diego Superior Court to determine the real-life impact of this restriction in San Diego County and whether, as applied to affected people who live there, section 3003.5, subdivision (b) is unconstitutional. The superior court found that it was and enjoined its enforcement, not only as to the four lead petitioners, but countywide.

STATEMENT OF PROCEEDINGS

On November 7, 2006, the voters adopted Proposition 83, "The Sexual Predator Punishment and Control Act: Jessica's Law". In the ballot pamphlet, proponents of Jessica's Law promised that the initiative would

Subsequent statutory references are to the Penal Code, unless otherwise indicated.

² Proposition 83 is referred to as "Jessica's Law" throughout.

create "predator free zones" around schools and parks by preventing sex offenders from living "near where children learn and play". (CT-A, Vol. 3, p. 543.³) Section 2 of the initiative included, among its "findings and declarations," that "sex offenders have very high recidivism rates", "are the least likely to be cured and the most likely to reoffend", and "have a dramatically higher recidivism rate for their crimes than any other type of violent felon." These "findings" were purportedly based on a "1998 report by the U.S. Department of Justice". (*Id.* at p. 546.)

Jessica's Law included an amendment to section 3003.5, a statute pertaining to individuals under the jurisdiction of the DAPO. It added subdivision (b), which provides, "Notwithstanding any other provision of law, it is unlawful for any person for whom registration is required pursuant to Section 290 to reside within 2000 feet of any public or private school, or park where children regularly gather," and it added subdivision (c), which reserves to municipalities the right to enact local ordinances that further restrict the residency of any person for whom registration is required

Respondents adopt the same references to the clerk's transcript as used in Appellant's Opening Brief. "CT" refers to the Clerk's Transcript on Appeal certified on May 16, 2011. "CT-A" refers to the Augmented Clerk's Transcript on Appeal certified on August 22, 2011, Volumes 1 through 6. "2CT-A" refers to the Second Augmented Clerk's Transcript on Appeal certified on October 21, 2011, Volumes 1 through 3. "RT" refers to the Reporter's Transcript on Appeal, Volumes 1 through 13.

pursuant to Section 290." (Section 3003.5, subds. (b), (c).) In August, 2007, the CDCR began requiring registered sex offenders under the supervision of the DAPO to comply with the residency restriction of Jessica's Law. Shortly thereafter, the number of homeless affected parolees⁴ began to skyrocket. Over a period of only three years, the number of homeless affected parolees increased by 1,236%.

On February 1, 2010, this Court addressed CDCR's enforcement of Penal Code section 3003.5, subd. (b), grappling with various facial and asapplied constitutional challenges raised by four affected parolees, two of whom resided in San Diego County. (*In re E.J., et al.* (2010) 47 Cal. 4th 1258 ("*In re E.J.*") This Court concluded that CDCR was not applying the residency restriction retroactively and that its enforcement of the restriction as a condition of parole did not violate state or federal ex post facto prohibitions. (*In re E.J., supra*, 47 Cal. 4th at p. 1275, p. 1280.) With respect to the remaining as-applied claims, this Court remanded the matters to superior court in the counties where the respective petitioners reside and ordered that evidentiary hearings be conducted to flesh out the relevant facts necessary to decide these claims, including, but not limited to the following:

⁴ Throughout this brief, the term "affected parolees" will be used to describe registered sex offenders, released from state prison after November 7, 2006, who are being actively supervised by the DAPO.

Establishing each petitioner's current parole status; the precise location of each petitioner's current residence and its proximity to the nearest "public or private school, or park where children regularly gather" (§ 3003.5(b)); a factual assessment of the compliant housing available to petitioners and similarly situated registered sex offenders in the respective counties and communities to which they have been paroled; an assessment of the way in which the mandatory parole residency restrictions are currently being enforced in each particular jurisdiction; and a complete record of the protocol CDCR is currently following to enforce section 3003.5(b) in those respective jurisdictions.

(In re E.J., supra, 47 Cal. 4th at pp. 1283-1284.)

By this time, K.T. and J.S., the two San Diego petitioners in *In re E.J.*, had discharged parole. But there was no shortage of homeless affected parolees in San Diego to pick up where they left off. By May 12, 2010, dozens of habeas petitions had been filed by imprisoned and paroled individuals, and temporary emergency injunctions had been issued in nearly all of these matters. The Public Defender was appointed on all pending matters, and four lead cases were selected and consolidated for the purpose of conducting an evidentiary hearing regarding facts common to affected parolees in San Diego County. Over the next seven months, the number of petitions more than tripled.

The lead cases were the matters of William Taylor, Julie Briley,

Jeffrey Glynn, and Stephen Todd, all of whom had been convicted of a

single registerable sex offense decades before Jessica's Law and all of whom

paroled after November 8, 2006, on a nonsexual nonviolent commitment offense. Each petitioner, when paroled, had a home available to him or her, but none were compliant with the residency restriction. Each petitioner wound up homeless, but when no longer subject to the residency restriction, was able to secure shelter. Among the claims raised in the petitions were the facial and as-applied claims addressed in *In re E.J.*⁵

Following an evidentiary hearing, at which comprehensive information pertaining to each of the unknowns mentioned in *In re E.J.* was presented, the superior court found that:

- affected parolees are only rarely candidates to buy or rent single family homes, and, if they are to find housing, it is most likely to be in apartments or low-cost residential hotels. (CT, Vol. 2, p. 388, lines 6-16.)
- affected parolees "are legally barred from 97% of the "multifamily housing most likely to be otherwise available to them," (*Id.* at p. 388, lines 17-20.)
- the remaining 3% of "compliant" multi-family housing is exceedingly difficult to find and is not necessarily available to

The petitioners also alleged that the residency restriction violated the Sixth and Eighth Amendments to the United States Constitution and is not rationally related to any legitimate government interest.

- this population. (*Id.* at pp. 389-391.)
- Respondents Taylor, Todd, Briley and Glynn were made homeless due to CDCR's enforcement of the residency restriction. (*Id.* at p. 406, lines 3-20.)
- "rigid application of the residency restriction results in large groups of parolees having to sleep in alleys and riverbeds, a circumstance that did not exist prior to Jessica's Law." (*Id.* at p. 409, lines 4-12.)
- this burden is imposed "without any consideration of the degree of restriction justified by the circumstances and history of the individual parolee." (*Id.* at p. 409, lines 13-16.)
- homelessness among the affected parolee population "hinders their treatment, jeopardizes their health and undercuts their ability to find and maintain employment, significantly undermining any effort at rehabilitation." (*Ibid.*)

Applying the legal standard set forth in California cases involving conditions of probation and parole, the court concluded that section 3003.5, subdivision (b), when enforced in San Diego County:

• impinges on the fundamental right to travel within a state, to establish a home, and to choose the people with whom one

lives. (CT, Vol. 2, pp. 404-406.)

- "is not narrowly drawn, much less specifically tailored to the individual. It applies as a blanket proscription, blindly applied to all registered sex offenders on parole without consideration of the circumstances or history of the individual case." (CT, Vol. 2, at p. 407, lines 3-8.)
- "invites anomalies that smack of arbitrariness." (*Id.* at p. 407, line 19.)
- "is unconstitutionally 'unreasonable' under established case law ... because it oppressively infringes on fundamental constitutional rights, causing significant harm without justifying that infringement by narrowly tailoring the intrusion to the needs of the individual case." (*Id.* at p. 409, lines 17-20.)

In a written decision, filed on February 18, 2011, the superior court ordered the CDCR to cease enforcement of the restriction against the four lead petitioners.⁶ (CT, Vol. 2, at p. 416.) Approximately three weeks later, the court issued a supplemental statement of decision, enjoining enforcement of section 3003.5, subdivision (b) county-wide. (CT, Vol. 2, pp. 417-421.)

⁶ The court also found that several regulations adopted by CDCR to implement and enforce the residency restriction violated the Administrative Procedures Act ("APA") and enjoined their enforcement. (CT, Vol. 2, at pp. 411-415.) Appellant did not appeal from this ruling.

CDCR appealed. In September, 2012, a unanimous panel of the Court of Appeal for the Fourth Appellate District, Division One affirmed the trial court's orders. CDCR petitioned this Court to review the Court of Appeal's decision, and review was granted.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

A. Factual Assessment of the Availability of Compliant Housing Available to Petitioners and Other Affected Parolees in San Diego County

In San Diego County, nearly all housing, affordable to and suitable for affected parolees and their families, is located within 2,000 feet of a school or park. As a result, Appellant's enforcement of the residency restriction as a condition of parole has resulted in large numbers of affected individuals becoming and remaining homeless.

1. There is a woeful shortage of affordable housing in the County of San Diego.

The San Diego County Department of Housing and Community

Development administer the "Housing Choice Voucher Program," more

commonly known as "Section 8." (RT, Vol. 7, at p. 359, p. 362.) This

program exists because the need, county-wide, for affordable housing

exceeds the amount of housing available to low-income families. The annual

vacancy rate for rental housing in this county is extremely low, ranging from

only five to eight percent. (*Id.* at pp. 369-370.) To make more units available

to low income individuals or families, the County provides rental subsidies to property owners and rental vouchers to applicants. (*Id.* at pp. 360-364.) To qualify for the program, an applicant family's household income cannot exceed \$40,000 per year. (*Id.* at pp. 360-361.)

According to David Estrella, the Director of the Department of Housing and Community Development, there is a substantial need for affordable housing in San Diego County, as evidenced by the exponential increase in the number of program applicants over recent years and the length of the program's wait list. In the past two years alone, the list has more than doubled, growing from 15,000 interested applicants to more than 40,000 interested applicants. (RT, Vol. 7, at pp. 365-367.) The time period during which families are left waiting for rental vouchers also has increased. Currently, the wait time for vouchers is up to eight years, or even longer. (*Id.* at 366:22-28.) At the same time, there has been a considerable decline in the development of rental complexes willing to offer affordable housing to qualified participants. (*Id.* at 366:4-15, 378:5-12.)

Some program participants have special needs, including mental challenges, disabilities, medical conditions, and advanced age. (RT, Vol. 7, at p. 374.) The need for affordable housing is greater for these people, who need access to social and medical service providers. (*Id.* at p. 375.) Due to

these needs, affordable housing is generally located in the more densely populated urban areas of the County. (*Id.* at pp. 364-365.) Individuals with any type of registration requirements, including registered sex offenders, are categorically excluded from the program and may not live in any residence subsidized by the program. (*Id.* at pp. 367-368, 402:23-25.)

2. Affected parolees require affordable housing with access to reliable public transportation and located reasonably close to medical and social services providers.

Upon their release from prison, most affected parolees plan, at least initially, to live with people they know, friends or relatives, in communities with which they are familiar. (RT, Vol. 7, at 473:2-9, 480:1-13; Vol. 8, at 560:12-14, 564:6-10, 746:14-16; Vol. 9, at 901:1-17.) Their housing options are extremely limited. Generally, they have no jobs and no savings. They are categorically barred from all homeless shelters and nearly every residential drug and alcohol treatment program and licensed mental health facility. (RT, Vol. 7, at pp. 403-404, 486:11-18; CT, Vol. 1, p. 102; 2CT-A, Vol. 1, p. 38.) Few affected parolees can afford rent in excess of \$850 per month. (RT, Vol. 7, at 405:2-24; Vol. 8, at 585:6-16, 612:5-15, 648:9-11.) Their income is well below the poverty level. (*Id.* at 502:2-6; Vol. 8, at pp. 577-578, pp. 620-621.) For those who are disabled and cannot work, disability benefit payments range from \$800 to \$1,000 per month, and it can

take months or even years for a qualified applicant to receive his first check. (RT, Vol. 7, at 405:2-24, 483:20-26; Vol. 8, at pp. 643-644, 648:9-11, 747:17-20, pp. 772-773; Vol. 9, at 899:9-15.) Those who can work often find it exceedingly difficult to secure employment which pays a living wage. Blanket parole conditions, including prohibitions against having contact with minors and being near places where they congregate, prohibitions against accepting employment which provides access to a private residence, and prohibitions against having access to or using the internet, even for the purpose of securing employment, substantially limit the jobs available to affected parolees. (RT, Vol. 7, at 398:23-25, 400-402, 498-500, 502:1-6, 518-519; CT, Vol. 2, 285; CT-A, Vol. 4, pp. 350, 632, 905.)

Housing in remote and rural areas is generally unsuitable for affected individuals, few of whom can afford to own and operate a private vehicle. Parolees require reasonable access to reliable public transportation to satisfy their reporting and treatment requirements, obtain necessary medical, psychiatric and social services, search for employment and, once it's obtained, get to and from work. (RT, Vol. 7, at p. 407, 493:19-23, 499-504.)

3. In San Diego County, CDCR's enforcement of the residency restriction of Jessica's Law renders off-limits to affected parolees nearly all of the housing most likely to be available to them.

In 2006, Julie Wartell, an experienced crime analyst and mapping expert, employed by the San Diego County District Attorney's Office (RT, Vol. 6, at 215-217; CT-A, Vol. 2, p. 409-414), compiled data and created an electronic map showing the anticipated geographic impact of the residency restriction of Jessica's Law in San Diego County. (Id. at pp. 217-219.) She mapped the location of all "schools" in the county, including public and private elementary or secondary schools only, but did not include day care centers, preschools, colleges and universities, or non-academic schools, like dance schools or ice skating schools. (Id. at 219:4-10, 235:20-28.) Since the term "parks where children regularly gather" is not defined by section 3003.5(b), she relied on the San Diego Association of Government ("SANDAG") to provide a definition that might reasonably be used to ascertain the location of "parks." (Id. at pp. 219-220.) She mapped "parks" based on the "active use park" layer from SANDAG's land-use files. (Id. at

Ms. Wartell stated that plotting all of the licensed day care centers in the county, along with 2,000 foot buffers, would change her analysis by rendering even fewer residential parcels "liveable" for registered sex offenders. (RT, Vol. 6, at 262:7-28, 253:1.)

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